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INTERVIEW 

It's 10:46 A.M. of today, February 5, 2015, appears to the office of the Prosecutor assigned for the investigation 
to the magistrate of the Supreme Court of Justice, Alejandro Moncada Luna, located in the New building of the 
National Assembly, fifth floor, Mr. FRANCISCO FELIU NIGAGLIONI, male, of American nationality, of legal age, 
engineer by profession, with passpor  is accompanied by Counsel Manuel Salvador Cedeño 
Miranda, Attorney-at-Law, with personal identity card  with the purpose of conducting an interview 
with the prosecutor of the case and based on the provisions of article 320 of the Code of Criminal Procedure, 
adopted by the Law 63 of 2008. 

You are informed that the reason for this interview is related to the investigation that this office is currently 
conducting to Mr. Magistrate of the Supreme Court of Justice, Mr. Alejandro Moncada Luna. You are informed 
that on the basis set forth in this article, the interviewee is obliged to tell the truth of what he knows and is asked. 

The person is informed about their rights not to declare against themselves their spouse or their partner or their 
relative within the fourth degree of consanguinity and second degree of affinity (Article 25), National Constitution. 

In this way, we formally begin the interview and ask Mr. Feliú: 

(Q) Where do you currently work and since when?

(A) I work at OMEGA ENGINEERING INC., since February 21, 2010.

(Q) Since February 21st...

(A) Since 2010, it will be five years in two weeks.

(Q) What are your dutiess in OMEGA ENGINEERING?

(A) I put my card there, I am a pre-construction manager. I came to Panama as the first employee of the
company, my duties had to do with tenders. I enrolled in PanamaCompras, I received tenders online or I 
searched online, verified the requirements, if the company complied with the requirements, sent the email to see
if they gave me the okay, to proceed with the tender. Each party asked for the necessary documentation to
comply with the tender and the proposal was presented.

(Q) In the particular case with the OMEGA ENGINEERING Judicial Body, who made the contact?

(A) What do you mean the contact?

(Q) The contact to do the hiring.

(A) What I participated in the Judicial Branch, I oversee the bidding process of the Judicial Branch, I do not
know if there is one or two in relation to what is the Judicial Branch of La Chorrera, we proceed with the
tender, we present proposals. Once the protocol meeting is given and they call us, you were already awarded,
stop by our offices to discuss the project contract. Once that phase enters, a contract is signed, and then I 
leave and the engineers and other people pass by. Because the person in contact in the tender is me, in case
there is any problem in the tender or have any additional support they need, or some clarification, it can be my
name. In other words, what they usually call first is not the legal representatives, but the one that appears as 
on the list. Then, they call me: "Look, we are, you were awarded, we are ready to sign the contract, stop by the
office to discuss the protocol procedure." Once that phase passes, I don't go out anymore. I no longer go into
construction.

(Q) Who signed the OMEGA ENGINEERING contract with the Judiciary?

(A) It must have been Oscar Rivera.
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(Q) do you know the magistrate (separately) Alejandro Moncada Luna? 

 
(A) No. 

 
(Q) Have you never had any communication with him? 

 
(A) I have never talked to him, I saw him at the inauguration of the Judicial Branch. 

 
(Q) Which officials specifically of the Judicial Branch were you in contact with? 

 
(A) The protocol meeting was already with Vielza ... 

 
(Q) Vielza Rios. 

 
(A) That one. 

 
(Q) Who follows up the company's accounts with the Judicial Branch, within your organization? 

 
(A) I am outside that scope, that is, once construction begins, I am outside. 

 
(Q) His procedures were only until the construction contract. 

 
(A) When it is signed, and when the contract is delivered to us, the model contract, there I go. 

 
(Q) Who is the person responsible in the company for following up on the project and following up the 
collection of accounts with the Judicial Branch? 

 
(A) The one in charge of that, must be Frankie López, who is the office administrator, the legal representative. 

 
(Q) Who is your immediate boss in the company? 

 
(A) There really is a dispute there, but Oscar Rivera is my immediate boss and Frankie is the office manager and 
therefore he is also my boss anyways. 

 
(Q) That is, they are the gentlemen: Frankie López and Mr. Oscar Rivera. 

 
(A) Correct. 

 
(Q) Do you know the engineer Roberto Samaniego? 

 
(A) I know him, because he is the one who presents the tenders for Corcione. I do not know that I had a 
conversation with him, but I know who he is, because he who signs in the tenders. 

 
(Q) It is that we have information from the Judicial Branch, of the officials responsible for following up 
on the projects, that who is following up on the accounts of that particular project, of OMEGA 
ENGINEERING in the Judicial Branch, is Mr. Roberto Samaniego 

 
(A) I don't know why ._ 

 
(Q) You do not know about the relationship that the Corcione group has with OMEGA ENGINEERING. 

 
(A) Actually, I would tell you the opposite. Because we compete, in the National Assembly we compete 
against them here, and they obviously won it, and even in that of the Judicial organ of La Chorrera they 
competed with us, they were one of the four companies that participated. 

 
(Q) And do you know of any relationship between OMEGA ENGINEERING and the Corcione Group, with 
the Corcione group company? 
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(A) same. 

 
(Q) From your knowledge, do some of the companies in the Corcione group have any connection with 
the contracts that OMEGA ENGINEERING develops, regardless of the Judicial Branch? 

 
(A) I haven't taken it. 

 
(Q) You appear as a signatory in the BBVA account of a company called PR SOLUTION ... 

 
(A) Correct. 

 
(Q) ... today BAC PANAMÁ, the bank, and following up on the movements of an account from which 
funds were turned to another identified as unjustified assets of the president of the Supreme Court of 
Justice, Alejandro Moncada Luna, we detect that On April 25, 2013, just a couple of weeks after OMEGA 
ENGINEERING charged the advance of the project in the Judicial Branch, OMEGA ENGINEERING 
transferred two hundred and fifty thousand dollars (B /. 250,000.00) to the account of PR SOLUTION. And 
that same day on April 25, those two hundred and fifty thousand dollars (B /. 250,000.00) were 
transferred or a check was written to enter the account of another company called REYNA Y 
ASOCIADOS, in what was known as HSBC Bank or was Banistmo As a signatory of this account, of the 
PR SOLUTION account, what explanation can you give us about this transaction? From the transfer of 
the OMEGA ENGINEERING account in BBVA to the PR SOLUTION account, and subsequently to the 
purchase of a check that is entered into the REYNA Y ASOCIADOS account? 

 
(A) I can't tell you about the transfer, because I really have nothing to do with it. That is, the transfer is not within 
my reach. Yes I can tell you that I did that check, well, I signed it. This is the procedure, check requests arrive on 
my desk. Usually, not usually, 100% of the time that check is urgently needed when it arrives at my desk. 
Usually the person who requires the check calls or passes me to my office and says: "Look, I need this check, I 
check that everything is in order and I sign the check. 

 
(Q) Could you explain to me what consideration REYNA Y ASOCIADOS gave to PR SOLUTION? 

 
(A) When I made the check, at that moment I was told, and there was the Purchase Sales Agreement, which 
was for the acquisition of land, an investment. I verified that the requisition was all in order, and I signed the 
check. 

 
(Q) Was it a land that acquired PR SOLUTION? 

 
(A) According to the investment, yes. That is, if it is linked to OMEGA and PR SOLUTION are common. 

 
(Q) Explain that to me. 

 
(A) The check I sign it, that is, everything was in order and I signed it, if that check I signed it. If the transfer was 
made from OMEGA TO PR SOLUTION. 

 
(Q) Who instructed you to sign that check? 

 
(A) Given the amount and because it is an investment, it must have been the legal representative. 

 
(Q) The legal representative of PR SOLUTION? 

 
(A) No, from OMEGA. 

 
(Q) The legal representative of OMEGA ENGINEERING. 

 
(A) Yes, correct. That he is the only one who can ask me to make a check, that amount. 
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(Q) But explain to me, because the account belongs to another company, the company is PR SOLUTION 
and the legal representative of PR SOLUTION is Benjamín Villarreal. 

 
(A) Correct. 

 
(Q) How can the legal representative of OMEGA ENGINEERING instruct you to write a check, not being 
the legal representative of PR SOLUTION? 

 
(A) Because in my opinion the owner of both companies is the same person. 

 
(Q) In your opinion? 

 
(A) Yes. 

 
(Q) Did Oscar Rivera give you the instruction? 

 
(A) It wasn't Oscar. 

 
(Q) Who was it? 

 
(A) The one who asked me for the check was Frankie López. 

 
(Q) Frankie Lopez. Did he give you any explanation? 

 
(A) Yes. That it was for the purchase of land, an investment. 

 
(Q) Frankie Lopez went, it wasn’t Mr. Oscar Rivera? 

 
(A) No. There are two people who can give me that instruction, Oscar Rivera or Frankie López, and to date, 
Oscar Rivera, has never asked me for a check. 

 
(Q) Have you ever asked Oscar Rivera for a check? 

 
(A) No. 

 
(Q) In the month of July, exactly the same thing happened in 2013, on that occasion Mr. Frankie López 
also gave him the instruction. 

 
(A) Correct. 

 
(Q) Within the OMEGA group, you explain to us that it is pre-contracted, that is, you do all the paperwork 
until it is carried out, from then on other teams are responsible for developing the work. 

 
(A) Correct. 

 
(Q) In the case of PR SOLUTION, what is your role? 

 
(A) Well, in PR SOLUTION, we had a project. The project was entrusted to me, as the person at the time of 
the highest rank, being the first OMEGA employee and the first contract we won was PR SOLUTION. 

 
(Q) What contract? 

 
(A) One at Tocumen Airport. 

 
(Q) Do you remember what it was? 

 
(A) Study, design, construction, fuel and potable water line. 
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(Q) For what amount was that contract? 
 
(A) Three million. 

 
(Q) What year was that? 

 
(A) 2010-2011 

 
(Q) What type of contracting was that? 

 
(A) A tender for best value. 

 
(Q) Tender for best value. That was the first contract of the OMEGA group? 

 
(A) Correct. 

 
(Q) Being an account signatory, you must know the account movements. 

 
(A) At the time I was the senior engineer, yes. For the year 2010-2011 all the movements I was the one ... 

 
(Q) Yes, but we are talking now, again from April 2013. 

 
(A) I made all those checks. 

 
(Q) In April 2013, at the beginning of April, OMEGA ENGINEERING receives an advance for the hiring of 
the Judicial City in La Chorrera. A couple of weeks later, specifically on April 25, they transfer two 
hundred and fifty thousand dollars (B /. 250,000.00) from OMEGA ENGINEERING to PR SOLUTION and 
on that same day the certified check, which you acknowledge to have signed, is written by instructions 
of Mr. Frankie Lopez The balance of the account before the transfer by OMEGA was 

 Since February there were no major movements, when 
entering and leaving the same amount of money, after the first check, he continued to have that balance, 
more than two months pass, I show him an authenticated copy of the bank account statements, this 
happened on April. Two hundred and fifty thousand dollars (B /. 250,000.00) enter, two hundred and fifty 
thousand dollars (B /. 250,000.00) leave and from April 25 until July 11 there is only one movement in the 
account,  Only after they charge a next 
bill from the Judiciary in July, then we see a similar transfer. Is that usual for PR SOLUTION for two 
months and so many? Virtually no movement in the account. 

 
(A) About accounting ... 

 
(Q) Do you have any idea, why if Mr. Oscar Rivera, being the owner of both companies, instead of 
transferring the resources directly to REYNA Y ASOCIADOS, preferred to transfer it first to PR 
SOLUTION? I tell you, because the account to which these resources end or reach, part of these 
resources, which is as I said is associated IF unjustified heritage, of which I said the case of the 
prosecution, of the presiding magistrate of the Supreme Court of Justice who signed a contract with 
OMEGA ENGINEERING. We are not investigating him only for unjustified enrichment, we are 
investigating him for corruption of public servants and money laundering. Then, these movements from 
one account to the other, to take it to an account associated with the unjustified heritage of Mr. Moncada 
Luna, is what we have here sitting. The question is whether you saw this movement as a usual 
movement of the company? 

 
(A) I don't see the movement. I signed the check and accounting is the one that decides whether to deliver the 
check or not, if there is silver or there is no silver. If that transfer was made, he who made it will have to explain 
why. 

 
(Q) The PR SOLUTION accountant has been told by Mr. Salvador Del Toro, that in neither case, nor in the 
transaction of the month of April, nor in the month of July was a receipt given for the transfer. There is 
not. You as a signatory of the PR SOLUTION account were some ... 
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(A) That is accounting, if receipt was delivered or when the check was delivered ... 

 
(Q) Who would be responsible within your structure or organization for making this process of paying 
the certified check and in any case ...? 

 
(A) To pay, you have to be the accountant. 

 
(Q) Mr. Del Toro? 

 
(A) Or some of his assistants, some of his work group. 

 
(Q) Do you know Mr. Luis Montaño? 

 
(A) No, 

 
(Q) He doesn't know it. Do you know Mrs. María Gabriela Reyna López? 

 
(A) No. 

 
(Q) The company PUNELA DWEVELOPMENT CORP. Do you know it? 

 
(A) Neither. 

 
(Q) He doesn't know. Does JR BOCA INVESTMENT know it? 

 
(A) (He made negative movement with his head) No. 

 
(Q) When you tell us that you received the instruction of Mr. Frankie López, to write these checks in 
April and July 2013, on behalf of the REYNA Y ASOCIADOS company, he explained what it was, what 
was the reason? 

 
(A) Yes, I don't sign a check if they don't explain to me. That it was an investment in a land, a purchase of a land. 

 
(Q) Didn't you give more details? 

 
(A) No, I don't need more than that, after everything is in order. 

 
(Q) He was not given either ... 

 
(A) I can't question him either. 

 
(Q) Did the operation seem like a regular operation of the company? 

 
(A) It is an investment, that is, the head of the investor company. 

 
(Q) But you didn't know where the investment was, you didn't know anything. 

 
(A) No, I don't know where the terrain is. 

 
(Q) Not even if the investment was completed? 

 
(A) Neither. 

 
(Q) Notice on July 12, they transferred from OMEGA ENGINEERING to PR SOLUTION, to the account of 
which you are signing two hundred and fifty thousand dollars (B /. 250,000.00), which was what I 
mentioned to you a while ago. In the month of July, July 12, the day before you were transferred one 
hundred and ten thousand dollars (B / .110,000.00), do you have knowledge or remember why? 
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(A) No, that is, I have nothing to do with transfers. 

 
(Q) Nothing. Or with the company's account statements? 

 
(A) Neither. 

 
(Q) I tell you, because those one hundred and ten thousand dollars (B/.110,000.00), were also derived in 
the same way as the two hundred and fifty thousand dollars (B/. 250,000.00), that is, they entered and 
left, seventy thousand, twenty thousand, twenty thousand, twenty thousand, and we are trying to see 
specifically who they were delivered to, because they had also been transferred by OMEGA to PR 
SOLUTION. Do not have knowledge then? 

 
(A) No. 

 
(Q) I asked him about the two names of María Gabriela Reyna López and Luis Montaño, because when 
Mr. López was here he told us about the alleged transaction, PUNELA DEVELOPMENT signed this 
contract of promise of sale by JR BOCAS INVESTMENT. The truth of the matter is that PR SOLUTION is 
not part of this contract, the sale of this supposed investment, however PR SOLUTION is the one who 
writes the checks. 

 
(A) I with the administration and how things move, I have nothing to do with it. Yes I can tell you that I made the 
check and for me everything was in order at that time and you will know. I don't know, if something wrong was 
done. 

 
Thank you, Mr. Feliú. 

 
It's 11:12 A.M. Today, February 5, 2015, we conclude the interview. 

 
THE INTERVIEWEE  _  
IDENTITY DOCUMENT: Passport  
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